682725

68272-5

## **King County Superior Court**

No. 08-2-43576-8KNT

COA No. 68272-5-I

## In the Court of Appeals for the State of Washington Division I

## BERNARDO FIGUEROA and ROSA FIGUEROA, husband and wife

Respondents,

VS.

## THOMAS RYAN, M.D.

Appellant.

## APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Bertha B. Fitzer, WSB #12184 Fitzer Law, LLC 950 Pacific Ave. Suite 400 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 327-1905 bertha@fitzerlaw.com





1.	INTRODUCTION	1
11.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR	2
Ш.	ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR	4
IV.	FACTUAL STATEMENT	6
Α	Background	6
В	Medical Incident	8
С	Procedural Statement	13
	1. Pretrial Matters	13
	2. Evidentiary Motions	15
	3. Trial Testimony	16

#### i. INTRODUCTION

This case raises a trio of novel evidentiary issues. The first questions the extent a trial court can protect a plaintiff, who happens to also be a member of a racial minority, against the consequences of his own dishonest acts. Incorrectly applying ER 403, the learned trial judge excluded medical records which demonstrated the plaintiff's physical condition at the time of the alleged malpractice, an essential element of his claim of negligence. The court's exclusion of this evidence unfairly deprived the defendant of highly relevant evidence and left the jury to speculate about the missing medical records.

The second issue raises the issue of tactical, selective waiver of evidence relating to habit and routine. As argued in Part VI, C the plaintiff cannot criticize the doctor's routines in order to establish a violation of the standard of care and then deny the doctor the right to rebut that testimony by explaining, fully, those routines which establish he met the standard of care.

Finally, the case also raises important questions concerning the required factual foundations for medical testimony establishing the existence of an injury and causation. Here, the plaintiff submitted a

stipulation which established that the treating physician had found no permanent injury other than that associated with a surgery which would have been required regardless of any negligence.

Nonetheless, the trial court permitted an expert to testify the plaintiff's injuries were causally related to the defendant's negligence even though he admitted the following: a) he had not examined the plaintiff; b) he reviewed only the initial medical records of the treating physician; c) he had no expertise in the surgery performed by the treating physician; and d) he based his opinion that a permanent injury existed upon the deposition testimony of the plaintiff and his wife. VRP 417.

Because the trial court erred in resolving these and other issues, Appellant, Dr. Thomas Ryan, respectfully requests the jury's verdict be reversed and the matter remanded for a new trial.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court erred in granting the plaintiffs' motion to exclude evidence Bernardo Figueroa used a false identity on the day he sought treatment.
- The trial court erred in allowing the plaintiff to submit a redacted medical record which removed the plaintiff's signatures from the admission and discharge papers.

- The trial court erred in concluding the evidence of the plaintiff's use of a false identity was more prejudicial than probative.
- 4. The trial court erred in not granting the motion to reconsider this ruling after the plaintiffs made the condition of the patient's hand the central issue in the case.
- The trial court erred in granting plaintiff's motion in limine regarding habit and routine.
- 6. The trial court erred by failing to reconsider its ruling regarding habit and routine evidence after the plaintiff admitted he had introduced testimony on this topic as a "tactical matter."
- The trial court erred in denying defendant's motion to exclude Dr. Zafren's proximate cause testimony when plaintiffs' pretrial disclosures did not reveal that he was going to provide this testimony.
- 8. The trial court erred in denying the motion to exclude Dr.

  Zafren's testimony regarding causation when he a) admitted he had no expertise in the treatment of plaintiff's injury; b) had not examined the plaintiff; c) had not reviewed the complete medical records of the treating physician; and d)

- primarily based his opinion that a permanent injury existed upon plaintiffs' deposition testimony.
- The trial court erred in entering judgment on the jury's verdict where the expert testimony lacked the required factual foundation.
- The trial court erred in refusing give the error of judgment instruction, WPI 105.08.
- 11. The trial court erred in denying the motion for a new trial given multiple errors and the lack of qualified expert testimony linking causally the alleged negligence with the plaintiff's injury.

# III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. May a trial court allow a party to alter medical records necessary to prove defendant's theory of the case in order to shield the plaintiff from the consequences of a voluntary act of dishonesty committed by the plaintiff at the time of treatment by the defendant?
- Did the admission of the altered medical records unfairly prejudice the defendant by: a) denying the defense the use

- of objective evidence of the plaintiff's condition at the time of treatment; b) undercutting defense cross-examination; and c) causing jury confusion about the whereabouts of the medical records used in questioning the plaintiff?
- 3. Did the trial court improperly limit the scope of Dr. Ryan's direct testimony under ER 406 in light of the plaintiff's tactical use of Dr. Ryan's deposition testimony relating to Dr. Ryan's habit and routine?
- 4. Did the trial court improperly allow plaintiffs' expert to testify on proximate cause when the testimony had not been disclosed in accordance with the local disclosure rule and the expert lacked sufficient factual foundation to render an opinion?
- 5. Does sufficient evidence of causation exist to sustain the jury's verdict?
- 6. Did the trial court err by failing to give WPI 105.08 in a case where the physician's judgment regarding how long to observe the patient in the emergency room was the basis of the alleged negligence?
- Did the trial court err by denying defendant's motion to exclude evidence that the doctor's written documentation

- violated the standard of care when there was no expert testimony causally linking the breach with the injury?
- 8. Did the trial court err in denying the motion for a new trial based on juror misconduct, attorney misconduct in closing argument and the combined impact of the above errors?

#### IV. FACTUAL STATEMENT

### A. Background

This is a medical malpractice action brought by plaintiffs
Bernardo Figueroa and his wife Rosa. Bernardo Figueroa came to
the United States in 1987. VRP II, p. 257. He became a U.S.
citizen in 2000. *Id.* To obtain his citizenship, the law required that
Bernardo demonstrate "an understanding of the English language,
including the ability to read, write, and speak, simple words and
phrases in ordinary usage in the English language" and to
demonstrate "a knowledge and understanding of the fundamentals
of the history, principles and form of government of the United
States." <sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See USCIC publication, "A Guide to Naturalization" published at: <a href="http://www.uscis.gov/files/article/chapter4.pdf">http://www.uscis.gov/files/article/chapter4.pdf</a>.

Plaintiff has not worked since 2003 when he was injured at a construction site. VRP II, pp. 261-62. In 2009, following a hotly disputed labor and industry claim that stretched over six years, he obtained permanent disability based on post-traumatic stress syndrome and a claim of permanent paralysis and damage to his left arm. VRP 498.

The plaintiff was deposed in 2009. Plaintiff denied that he had ever been convicted of a crime. CP 137. In fact, plaintiff had convictions for patronizing a prostitute, assault in the 4<sup>th</sup> degree, driving while license suspended, and criminal trespass. CP 23.

During his deposition, the plaintiff refused to discuss the industrial injury, stating "I---I cannot talk about that because I get ill when I do that." CP 128; VRP 543.

At trial, the plaintiff had the ability to describe in vivid detail how he had been injured. He claimed he was thrown 20 feet apparently as a result of an electrical shock and his left arm was hurt and "shook for many years." VRP 70-71. He then explained his left arm stopped "shaking" two years before the trial, or about 2009. VRP 73-74. Coincidentally, the plaintiff was awarded permanent disability for the damage to his left arm and for damages to his psyche in 2009. VRP 498; 544.

#### **B.** Medical Incident

On October 3, 2005, at 1350 hours (1:50 p.m.) a Hispanic gentleman identifying himself as Seku Montana-Linares arrived at the Highline Medical Specialty<sup>2</sup> Center emergency room complaining of abdominal pain. CP 443. He gave his date of birth as 07-10-68, and provided a driver's license with his picture and the name Seku Montana-Linares. CP 443; Ex. 11. The patient was Benardo Figueroa. He signed the ER admission papers with the Seku name, using the falsified driver's license to support this fraudulent act. CP 442; Ex. 11. Although plaintiff's wife, Rosa, drove him to the hospital, he gave a different name as next of kin and listed his marital status as single. CP 442.

Dr. Thomas Ryan was the emergency room physician on duty. He is a Board Certified Emergency physician who has practiced at the Highline Hospital Special Campus ER since 1984. See VRP 756; CP 393. As is common with emergency room physicians, especially when a case is litigated years after the event, Dr. Ryan had no independent recall of the plaintiff or the events associated with the plaintiff's medical event. VRP 753; 798.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Highline maintains emergency rooms at both its Specialty Center located in Tukwila Washington and at its main campus located in Burien.

The medical records show that Dr. Ryan was concerned the patient had a possible ruptured appendix and that he ordered a CT of the patient's abdomen. VRP 810. To assist in obtaining the best view of the appendix, the radiology department injected a radio contrast dye into an IV site on the plaintiff's right hand. VRP 298-99.3 The radiology department later reported that approximately 60 ml's (a little over 2 fluid ounces) escaped from the vein. VRP 326; CP 445. The term for this event is "extravasation". VRP 326. An extravasation is a leak from the vein of the contrast fluid. Id. Leakage of contrast fluid from a vein to the surrounding tissue can damage the tissue if the fluid is an irritant. VRP 300-01. Most often, however, the body reacts with swelling and some pain, but eventually absorbs the dye. VRP 318. The treatment for extravasation consists of ice, elevation and observation all of which Dr. Ryan and the nurses provided for Mr. Figueroa. CP 445; VRP 311.

A patient with an extravasation injury may develop a very rare complication, a compartment syndrome.<sup>4</sup> Only one in 170,000

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See also, VRP 396-97. [Plaintiff's expert admitting that attending physician has nothing to do with infusing contrast material.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Compartment syndromes are not in and of themselves rare only the mechanism by which it occurred here. The testimony established that compartment syndromes are much more frequently seen as a result of trauma. VRP 818-19.

extravasations will cause this complication. VRP 588. The plaintiff's expert agreed it "would be an uncommon complication." VRP 392.

A compartment syndrome occurs when the muscle swells to a degree its expansion becomes limited by the relatively inelastic fibrous capsule in which it is enclosed, the fascia. See VRP 304-05. The expansion within the compartment causes the pressure within it to rise. *Id.* Initially that process may cause the veins, which are low pressure, to collapse. If the pressure continues to rise, it can also impede the flow of blood being brought into the muscle by the arteries. *Id.* 

If untreated, a compartment syndrome can cause death of the muscle tissue. VRP 306. The treatment for compartment syndrome, once it occurs, is a fasciotomy, a surgery where the surgeon slices through the fascia so the swelling can expand to the level it needs to reduce the pressure on the tissue and vessels inside. VRP 307-08. Once a compartment syndrome begins, the only treatment is to perform the fasciotomy. VRP 308.

Ultimately, Mr. Figueroa's CT was reported as negative, ruling out an acute appendix. Dr. Ryan treated the abdominal symptoms and the extravasation injury. Plaintiff's arm was

elevated, ice applied to reduce swelling and Dr. Ryan ordered a single dose of pain medication. CP 445-48. According to the nurse caring for the patient, plaintiff's swelling and discomfort decreased. CP 445. This is important because all the testifying experts agreed that compartment syndrome does not get better and then worse. Rather "it is a steady downhill course." VRP 430 [Plaintiffs' expert Zafren.] It is a progressive problem that does not start, get better, start again and get worse. VRP 642. [Dr. Ronald Dobson, defense expert.]

The nursing notes document that the patient reported he could "move my fingers" at 16:45. CP 445. Consistent with that comment, the patient provided a urine sample at 17:10, an act that required the use of at least one functional hand.<sup>6</sup> *Id.* 

He was discharged at 1718 (5:18 p.m.). At the time of his discharge, the patient signed his discharge instructions with his right hand, the hand with the extravasation injury. CP 453; VRP 541. Had plaintiff's hand been swollen to the degree consistent with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Plaintiffs' expert disputed this conclusion, dismissing the nurse's note with the contention that one could not observe swelling decrease and that the movement of the fingers was the result of the pain medication. VRP 430.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> At the time, the patient was wearing a splint on his left arm because of his 2003 industrial injury. CP 444.

compartment syndrome, he would not be able to pick up a pen and sign a document. VRP 785-86.

Plaintiff, however, signed both the admission papers and the discharge papers using the name on his falsified Washington State Driver's license, Seku Montana. CP 442-43; 453. His signature on admission prior to the extravasation and his signature on the discharge papers are virtually identical. This objective evidence illustrated clearly that plaintiff's hand was functional at the time of discharge. Cf. CP 59 and 61; Appendix A.

At 2140 (9:40 p.m.), over 4 hours after his discharge, Mr.

Figueroa returned to the emergency room, with complaints of right forearm pain, numbness and swelling. CP 456. He was admitted and transferred to the main campus with a diagnosis of "compartment syndrome". CP 459. A surgeon, Dr. Vincent Muoneke, performed the required fasciotomy to relieve internal arm pressure on the muscles and nerves. CP 471. This operation was successful and plaintiff was discharged on October 4, 2005. *Id.* He received follow-up treatment, including subsequent skin grafts. Ex.

1. His medical records establish he had good healing and that he had aggressive physical therapy. Ex. 1.

During his treatment by Dr. Muoneke, plaintiff continued to complain of pain. Ex. 1. Dr. Muoneke referred him to a Dr. Clark for a second opinion. Ex. 1;VRP 871. Dr. Clark concluded that the plaintiff "might have some mild ischemia and subsequent scarring. Ex. 1, Clark Letter p. 2. He recommended an EMG to assist in the diagnosis. Ex. 1, Clark letter p. 3. Dr. Muoneke's office made the appointment. The plaintiff, however, did not show up for his EMG appointment at the neurology clinic, did not reschedule it or ultimately get this diagnostic test which would have determined the existence of a permanent injury. Ex. 1, Record dated 4/5/2006 from South Sound Neurology Associates.

Dr. Muoneke did not see the plaintiff after April 2006 and did not testify at trial. Ex. 1, page 1. According to a stipulation read to the jury, Dr. Muoneke observed no dead tissue in the arm and hand. VRP 746. The stipulation provided further that Dr. Muoneke would have testified there was <u>nothing</u> in his written records that would support that the plaintiff suffered a permanent physical injury beyond the scars. VRP 746 [Emphasis added].

#### C. Procedural Statement

#### 1. Pretrial Matters

The original suit named both the hospital, Highline Medical Center, the emergency room doctor, Dr. Thomas Ryan, and his practice, Highline Emergency Physicians, PLLC. CP 1-9. It alleged that Dr. Ryan improperly discharged the plaintiff with a compartment syndrome, which if it had been treated at the time would have resulted in no permanent injury. CP 5. The complaint further alleged that the plaintiff had suffered permanent paralysis in his arm. CP 5. The plaintiff averred this "created a substantial problem for Mr. Figueroa since his other arm had been permanently paralyzed when he was electrocuted on the job. CP 5.

In December 2010, the hospital moved for summary judgment. [Supp. Clerk's Papers at \_\_\_\_\_\_; Motion for Summary Judgment] Plaintiffs offered no opposition to this motion and the trial court granted it on January 11, 2011. [Supp. Clerk's Papers, Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment].

On May 31, 2011, Plaintiffs filed "Plaintiffs' Disclosure of Possible Primary Witnesses." [Supp. Clerk's Papers at \_\_\_\_].

This document listed Dr. Ken Zafren as an expert witness to testify regarding the standard of care. [Supp. Clerk's Papers, Disclosure at page 3.] No witness were designated to testify regarding

proximate cause, however, several treating physicians were disclosed. [See Disclosure at pp. 4-5.]

#### 2. Evidentiary Motions

Prior to trial, the plaintiff moved to exclude testimony and documents showing the use of the false driver's license and the forged signature. CP 21.<sup>7</sup> These records were part of the Defendants' Exhibit 11,<sup>8</sup> the original medical records of the plaintiff.

The defense objected to exclusion of the evidence, arguing the information was highly relevant to the plaintiffs' credibility, a critical issue in the case. Based in part on the reasoning in *Silas v. Hi-Tech Erectors*, 168 Wn.2d 664, 670, 230 P. 3d 583 (2010), the trial court ruled that the information had overwhelming potential for prejudice that would distract the jury from dealing with the issues they had to deal with, "the claims of medical malpractice." VRP 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Plaintiffs' counsel referred to the use of the fake identification and identity as use of an "alias." CP 21-22. In fact, as argued to the trial court, the plaintiff was engaged in identity theft and forgery. CP 68. During his deposition, plaintiff admitted that 1) the name belonged to a real person who lived in Mexico; 2) that he did not have permission to use the name; 3) that he obtained the fake identification because it was "easy" and because he needed a driver's license since he lost his after driving under the influence of alcohol. CP 131-32:134.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Exhibit 11 was the un-redacted version of the plaintiff's medical records. VRP It is not clear whether the Clerk retained this exhibit. The disputed pages, however, appear in the Clerk's Papers several times at CP 59-63; CP 442-453.

The court allowed the Plaintiffs to redact the signature lines of both the admission and discharge records and submit the medical records with the signatures line blank. Exhibit 1.

Plaintiff also moved to exclude testimony regarding the plaintiffs' industrial injury and to preclude Dr. Ryan from testifying about his habit and routine. CP 109-112. The industrial injury motion was granted and the issue of habit and routine was reserved. CP 212; VRP 15.

The defense moved to exclude testimony regarding any criticism of Dr. Ryan that was not causally linked to the plaintiffs' injury. CP 38-42. The defense requested that plaintiff's expert be prevented from testifying about any violation of standard of care based on the record keeping of Dr. Ryan because there was no causal link between the lack of documentation and the plaintiff's injuries. CP 95-96. Plaintiffs' counsel responded to this concern by stating: "I don't plan to argue that it is below the standard of care." VRP 14-15. He reserved the right to address the issue in cross-examination. VRP 15. Based on these representations, the court granted the defense motion in limine. CP 212.

#### 3. Trial Testimony

#### a. Lay Witnesses

Plaintiffs produced the testimony of a man who had interpreted for Mr. Figueroa during the industrial appeal, that of the couple's teenage friend and another family friend. In addition, Bernardo and Rosa Figueroa testified through interpreters.<sup>9</sup>

Mr. Figueroa relayed the details of his treatment by Dr. Ryan. He testified that his hand was very swollen, and that he asked the doctor if he could remain there under observation. VRP 537. He stated that he asked the doctor this twice. *Id.* He claimed that the doctor twice told him "no, you will be fine" that everything would be fine in two or three hours and that his swelling would go down. VRP 537. He also showed the jury his hand and testified that "My hand was so swollen that my fingers were stuck together like this. They were touching like this." VRP 456.

Mr. Figueroa testified to a list of physical impairments he claimed he still had.<sup>10</sup> He testified he could not repair his car, could not lift or move heavy furnishings, could not mow his lawn, could not pitch a baseball, could not lift heavy garbage bags, could not

<sup>9</sup> Mr. Figueroa testified that he understand some English, he just understood the regular words. VRP 75. Counsel had the plaintiff answer and respond to several questions in English so that the jury could "understand or get an idea of how well you speak, sort of how its sounds when you communicate in English." VRP 75.

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