#### Court of Appeals No. 68272-5-I

# IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I

BERNARDO FIGUEROA and ROSA FIGUEROA, husband and wife,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

VS.

THOMAS RYAN, M.D.,

Defendant/Appellant.

Appeal from the Superior Court of King County King County Superior Court No.: 08-2-43576-8 KNT

RESPONDENTS' OPENING BRIEF

Ву:

Tyler K. Firkins, WSBA 20964
Neal R. Kingsley, WSBA 42461
VAN SICLEN, STOCKS & FIRKINS
Attorneys for Respondent
721 45<sup>th</sup> Street NE
Auburn, WA 98002
(253) 859-8899

ORIGINAL

# **

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

Defendant is asking this court to find error in rulings that were solidly within the discretion of the trial court. A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence will be overturned only for an abuse of discretion. State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). A court abuses its discretion if its ruling is "manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons." Id. Similarly, a trial court decision on a motion for a new trial is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Aluminum Co. of America v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, 537, 998 P.2d 856 (2000). When reasonable people could take differing views regarding the propriety of the trial court's actions, the trial court has not abused its discretion. State v. Demery, 144 Wn.2d 753, 758, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001). Defendant fails to meet this burden.

In this case, Defendant appeals the trial court's decisions to redact unduly prejudicial information from Mr. Figueroa's medical records, exclude testimony by Dr. Ryan regarding his habit or routine when his testimony was that he had no independent recollection of what he did or did not do to treat Mr. Figueroa, deny a request for an inapplicable and potentially confusing jury instruction, permit Plaintiff's expert to testify as to causation after a thorough inquiry outside the presence of the jury, and allow testimony regarding Dr. Ryan's written documentation when such documentation was the only confirmed evidence of what was actually done. In the process, the Defendant asks this Court to usurp the position of

the jury and reevaluate the evidence presented at trial. This court should affirm the rulings of the trial court.

- A. Defendant was able to argue that Mr. Figueroa's signature was not affected by his injury without the use of unfairly prejudicial evidence.
  - 1. Use of Mr. Figueroa's alias was unfairly prejudicial and was properly excluded.

Prior to trial, the court redacted Mr. Figueora's driver's license and a signature from two medical records because Mr. Figueroa had used the alias of Seku Montana-Linares. The trial court ruled to exclude this evidence given the minimal evidentiary value of the signatures and the strong potential for unfair prejudice. Relevant evidence is generally admissible. ER 402. Under ER 403, however, otherwise "relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice..." The purpose of evidence is to convince the trier of fact to reach one decision rather than another, so "the linchpin word is unfair" when determining whether ER 403 excludes evidence. State v. Rice, 48 Wn. App. 7, 13, 737 P.2d 726 (1987) (internal quotation marks omitted). Generally, "unfair prejudice is caused by evidence that is likely to arouse an emotional response rather than a rational decision among the jurors." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). Additionally, the trial court, "not an appellate court, is in the best position

to evaluate the dynamics of a jury trial and therefore the prejudicial effect of a piece of evidence." *State v. Harris*, 97 Wn. App. 865, 869, 989 P.2d 553 (1999) (citing *State v. Taylor*, 60 Wn.2d 32, 40, 371 P.2d 617 (1962)), review denied, 140 Wn.2d 1017 (2000). "Because of the trial court's considerable discretion in administering ER 403, reversible error is found only in the exceptional circumstance of a manifest abuse of discretion." *Carson v. Fine*, 123 Wn.2d 206, 226, 867 P.2d 610 (1994), citing to *State v. Gould*, 58 Wn. App. 175, 180, 791 P.2d 569 (1990); *State v. Gatalski*, 40 Wn. App. 601, 610, 699 P.2d 804, review denied, 104 Wn.2d 1019 (1985). The Court of Appeals will overturn a trial court's balancing of the danger of prejudice against the probative value of the evidence "only if no reasonable person could take the view adopted by the trial court." *State v. Posev*, 161 Wn.2d 638, 648, 167 P.3d 560 (2007).

The court's exclusion of the driver's license and signatures was proper for two reasons: evidence of unrelated alleged wrongdoing on behalf of Mr. Figueroa was of minimal relevance for determining whether Dr. Ryan had committed medical malpractice in light of the associated potential for prejudice, and Mr. Figueroa admitted at trial to the facts which Defendant was purportedly trying to prove. ER 403 exclusions generally do not extend to evidence crucial to a defense. *State v. Young*, 48 Wn. App. 406, 413, 739 P.2d 1170 (1987). This is because, at that point,

the evidence's probative value exceeds its potential for prejudice. *Id*. The evidence Defendant sought to admit in this case does not rise to this level.

On cross examination, Defendant asked Mr. Figueroa to identify his signature on the official cover sheet he signed when he first arrived at Highline Hospital. VRP 541. Mr. Figueroa did so. Id. Defendant's counsel next asked Mr. Figueroa to identify his signature on the acknowledgement of discharge instructions form. Id. Mr. Figueroa also stated that it was his signature. Id. Mr. Figueroa then admitted that both signatures looked identical. VRP 542. During cross examination, Defendant was permitted to question Mrs. Figueroa regarding the same. VRP 682. There was no ambiguity in this testimony. Erroneously excluding evidence that would be cumulative with admitted evidence is harmless. See State v. Flores, 164 Wn.2d 1, 19, 186 P.3d 1038 (2008). Defendant was able to present evidence to the jury that Mr. Figueroa's signature had not changed from the time he first entered the hospital until the time he was discharged. Even if the trial court was in error when it excluded the signatures, presenting the documents with Mr. Figueroa's aliases would have been cumulative to the evidence already in front of the jury.

Defendant argues that the trial court relied on *Salas v. High Tech Erectors*, 168 Wn.2d 664, 670, 230 P.3d 583 (2010) to support the

exclusion of the identity evidence. This is a mischaracterization of the trial court's ruling. The trial court balanced the issue here by noting that while the cases involving immigration status are not directly on point, it is the invitation to arouse prejudice, suspicion and anger that caused the Court to disallow the minimally probative evidence. *Id.* at 668 (citing *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)). The trial court ruled that under an ER 403 balancing test, whatever probative value the signatures may have was overwhelmed by the potential for prejudice, and was likely to district the jury from dealing with the claim at hand: medical malpractice. VRP 6; 682. The trial court specifically noted that *Salas* was not directly applicable to the case at bar, and did not base its ruling on that case. VRP 4; 680.

2. It would have been improper to use Mr. Figueroa's alias for impeachment.

The next argument raised by the Defendant,, that the plaintiff's use of an alias was proper impeachment evidence against Mr. Figueroa's credibility, is similarly unfounded. Defendant deceptively relies on the case of *Goehle v. Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Ctr.*, 100 Wn. App. 609, 621-622, 1 P.3d 579, 586 (2000), claiming the case stands for the proposition that putting down false information on a job application is *per se* admissible. The case does not, however, stand for this proposition.

Instead, the case deals with the legal doctrine of "after acquired evidence" and refers to the *McKennon* and *Janson* holdings permitting the admission of after acquired evidence. I need another sentence or two to understand your point here. *Id.* at 621-622. As such, it is not relevant to the case at bar when the issue is the unfairly prejudicial effect of minimally useful evidence.

Further, Defendant's argument is premised on a number of unproven assumptions, including the assumption that Mr. Figueroa used a false name for some illegal or fraudulent reason. There is no evidence on the record that this is true here. Indeed, Mr. Figueroa accurately included his address and contact information and also accurately stated that he was uninsured. Mr. Figueroa also informed the hospital of the use of the alias and the records were corrected. Mr. Figueroa testified that he used the alias to prevent the hospital from improperly denying him services. None of these facts are sufficient to permit the admittance of otherwise inadmissible documents.

The Defendant also attempts to deceive the Court by claiming that the jury's request to see "all medical records" somehow means that the jury was specifically requesting the unredacted documents described by the Defendant. Defendant's Brief at 35; CP 219. The request from the jury was because they had not been provided with all of the admitted

exhibits. This omission came to light when the jury sent out the note, and the error was corrected. The defendant is well aware of these facts.

Further, there is no evidence whatsoever to support this particular interpretation of the jury's request. The documents to which Defendant refers were admitted into the record, merely in redacted form. The Defendant goes on to speculate that this created a cascade of doubt that eventually resulted in the jury discounting the Defendant's case. Again, there is nothing on the record providing evidence for this self-serving and unsupported interpretation of events.

It is also unclear from Defendant's briefing where he believes Plaintiff opened the door regarding evidence of an alias by Mr. Figueroa. In *State v. Gefeller*, 76 Wn.2d 449, 455, 458 P.3d 17 (1969), cited by Defendant, defense counsel opened the door to questions about a lie detector test after he expressly questioned a witness regarding whether a such a test had been given, and whether the defendant had been cooperative. In this case, Mr. Figueroa testified that he could not move his fingers. During cross examination, he admitted that there was no difference between his signatures on arrival at the hospital and discharge. Defense counsel was able to directly address any door opened by Mr. Figueroa's attorney.

Finally, Defendant argues that redacting the records violates the rule of completeness contained in ER 106, because the jury was provided with "only a portion of the relevant medical records." Defendant's Opening Brief at 36. The Defendant misunderstands this rule. ER 106 is "not a vehicle for the wholesale introduction of otherwise inadmissible evidence." Karl B. Tegland, 5D Courtroom Handbook on Washington Evidence 2011-12 § ch. 5 p. 204. Mr. Figueora's use of an alias did not "tend to modify, explain, or rebut the part that was introduced." Id., quoting State v. La Pierre, 71 Wn.2d 385, 428 P.2d 579 (1967). Documents are frequently redacted by a court to remove sensitive information without violating this rule, such as bank accounts or addresses. If the Court were to adopt Defendant's argument, this would not be permitted. Such is clearly not the case in practice. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding evidence of Mr. Figueroa's alias as unduly prejudicial under ER 403.

# B. Dr. Ryan's testimony of his habit and routine was properly excluded where there was no supporting evidence and he had no memory of the event.

The trial court also properly excluded Dr. Ryan's testimony regarding his habit or routine of giving instructions because there is no evidence that he actually gave any instructions beyond what was written, and Dr. Ryan himself has no memory of the incident. VRP 829. As

recognized by the *Fisons* court, "determination of admissibility of habit evidence is within the trial court's discretion," and "[s]ince habit is 'semi-automatic, almost involuntary and invariably specific response to fairly specific stimuli," it would be absurd for Dr. Ryan to testify that he treats or discharges every patient condition in the same semi-automatic manner. *Physicians Ins. Exchange v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 326, n. 39, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). Doctors routinely assert every patient is different and every circumstance is different. During trial, Dr. Ryan and Dr. Dobson both emphasized how rare it was for an emergency physician to even encounter a compartment syndrome arising from an extravasation injury. Dr. Ryan in fact testified that he has not seen a compartment syndrome from an extravasation before or since. VRP 808. It is therefore inconceivable that when confronted with an extremely rare occurrence that he had never seen, Dr. Ryan would develop a routine.

The *Fisons* court recognized that there is difference between admissible habit and what a professional does in some circumstances. *Id.* at 326 n.39. In *Meyers v. Meyers*, 5 Wn. App. 829, 491 P.2d 253, *aff'd*, 81 Wn.2d 533, 503 P.2d 59, 59 A.L.R.3d 1318 (1972), a notary's testimony that she never varied her business practice was admissible habit evidence. Conversely, in *Meder v. Everest & Jennings, Inc.*, 637 F.2d 1182 (8th Cir. 1981), the fact that an officer normally spoke to victims first in his

investigation did not rise to the level of habit under Fed.R.Evid. 406. In that casethe officer's testimony regarding whether his notes were based on victim statements was properly excluded.. *Fisons* at 326 n.39 (discussing *Meder v. Everest et al*). The instant case is much more analogous to *Meder* than to *Meyer*, as no competent physician would give the exact same injury-specific instructions to every person discharged from the hospital.

Dr. Ryan expressly testified that he does not have any independent recollection of treating Mr. Figueroa. VRP 753. Dr. Ryan was nonetheless permitted by the trial court to testify that he gave oral discharge instructions to Mr. Figueroa regarding his arm, despite no memory, and despite the fact that the only written notes state, "no work and elevate arm." VRP 803. Any testimony regarding what else may or would have been said is pure speculation, and therefore inadmissible. Having nonetheless been granted the opportunity to speculate by the trial court, Defendant now asserts that the trial court should have permitted him to speculate further. It was eminently reasonable for the trial court to limit Defendant's speculation.

Finally, it would be poor policy to permit doctors to testify what they would have said under an ER 406 exception, regardless of any written record or corroborating evidence. This would discourage creating such a record, because a doctor could later immunize himself from liability by merely claiming that it was always his habit to give appropriate discharge instructions. This is not the intent of the rule, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it properly excluded such testimony.

### C. The Trial Court properly declined to give Washington Pattern Jury Instruction 105.08.

A trial court's decision to give or not give a particular jury instruction is a matter within the discretion of that court and will not be reversed absent abuse of that discretion. Stiley v. Block, 130 Wn.2d 486, 498, 925 P.2d 194 (1996). An instruction may be refused if the other instructions are sufficient to permit each party to argue its theory of the case, are not misleading and properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable law. Hyatt v. Sellen Constr. Co., 40 Wn. App. 893, 895, 700 P.2d 1164 (1985). "Jury instructions are sufficient if they allow the parties to argue their theories of the case, do not mislead the jury and, when taken as a whole, properly inform the jury of the law to be applied." Robertson v. State Liquor Control Bd., 102 Wn. App. 848, 860, 10 P.3d 1079 (2000) (quoting Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co., 127 Wn.2d 67, 92, 896 P.2d 682 (1995)). Specifically, WPI 105.08 is to be given with caution. Watson v. Hockett, 107 Wn.2d 158, 166, 727 P.2d 669 (1986). It applies only where there is evidence that in arriving at a judgment, "the physician

or surgeon exercised reasonable care and skill, within the standard of care he [or she] was obliged to follow." *Id.* The instruction's application will ordinarily be limited only to situations where the doctor is confronted with a choice among competing therapeutic techniques or medical diagnoses. *Id.*

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